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The reports and statements set out in this report 
comprise the consolidated annual financial 
statements presented to the shareholders.

ABOUT US

Selective Empowerment Investments 
1 Limited (“SEI1”) was founded 
in 2007 as part of  a broader 
investment holding scheme. SEI1 
was particularly established to 
enable the small investor to acquire 
an investment that offered a healthy 
spread of  top-class shares listed on 
the Johannesburg Stock Exchange 
(“JSE”). SEI1 has evolved over the 
years from making investments in 
listed equities to making investments 
in unlisted equities as a form 
of  diversification. SEI1 is also a 
vehicle that serves Broad-based 
Black Economic Empowerment 
(“B-BBEE”) and prides itself  in 
meeting the aims of  B-BBEE 
through investing as an equity 
partner in both listed and unlisted 
equities. SEI1 is a Level 2 B-BBEE 
contributor.



VISION AND MISSION

SEI1’s vision is to be the preferred global empowerment equity investment 
partner. This vision is achieved through SEI1’s mission which is to grow 
capital through a diversified investment portfolio with sustainable income-
generating investments supported by a strong management team. 

The three main tenets to our vision and mission include the following:

Strategic equity stakes
Capital growth and  
maximising return Financial inclusion

SEI1 invests in listed and 
unlisted instruments (equity 

and debt) and actively  
seeks and subscribes to  

B-BBEE transactions.

SEI1’s primary investment 
objective is to provide our 

shareholders with relatively 
high long-term capital growth 

and to maximise the return 
for our shareholders through 

following an investment policy 
which will reflect a spread of  
investments aimed at capital 
growth, while cultivating an 
investment portfolio that will 
reshape core industries and 
help our nation transition to a 

sustainable future.

Financial inclusion refers to the 
provision and use of  regulated 

financial services by those 
segments of  society where 

financial services are needed 
but are either unavailable or 

inadequate. The participation 
by SEI1 in various investment 
opportunities especially in the 

SMME sector allows those 
SMMEs, more specifically 

women-run and youth 
business, to participate in 

the economy resulting in not 
only financial inclusion but 
also social and economic 
development and impact.
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OUR VALUES
Our values represent the core priorities of  our organisation that allow us to achieve set strategies. SEI1’s guiding 
philosophy and values are as follows:

VALUES

ABOUT US continued

Integrity

Our conduct demonstrates 

respect for key moral principles 

that include honesty, fairness, 

equality, dignity, diversity and 

individual rights

Commitment

We focus and concentrate on 

our core activities in a consistent 

manner

Accountability

We are accountable – individually 

and in teams – for our behaviour, 

actions and results, both positive 

and negative

Creative thinking

We embrace change, for ourselves 

and for our customers, and 

nurture and support creativity and 

the development of  new ideas, 

products and processes
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OUR STRATEGY

SEI1’s investment portfolio is currently largely invested in listed equities split into the following categories: 

Equities Fixed income accounts Bonds

The strategy of  investing only in high-risk listed equities was revised due to the fact that this strategy was not 

dynamic enough to address the JSE’s downturn experienced over the past few years. As part of  the new investment 

strategy, SEI1 will be looking to invest a considerable portion of  its portfolio into unlisted equities. SEI1 will take a 

generalist approach with a focus on the following sectors: 

• Agriculture (agri and agri-processing); 

• Manufacturing; 

• Services; and

• Financial services (fintech and innovation).

Investment transactions, which may involve unlisted/private or listed companies, may take one or more of  the 

following forms: 

• Supporting management buy-out/buy-in transactions; 

• Providing expansion capital for growth companies; 

• Providing liquidity for existing shareholders; and/or 

• Providing replacement capital to introduce a value-adding partner and to enhance the portfolio company’s  

B-BBEE credentials.

In addition to the above, SEI1 will look toward making equity acquisitions of  at least 20% in the unlisted space  

while also looking for a board seat in the investee company.
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company to continue making progress in developing 
building blocks towards providing a solution for 
shareholders to trade their shares.

VERIFICATION OF THE SHARE 
REGISTER
We focused on cleaning the share register which had 
been an issue affecting some shareholders for a long 
time. After extensive work to improve the share register, 
it was subjected to an assurance process by an 
independent auditor. The board is happy to report that 
the share register verification process is now complete 
and gives the board comfort that the 138 802 534 
shares have been accounted for. The effect of  the 
verification of  the share register and related correction 
is as follows:

Shares issues New Old

Number of  shares  

– no par value
138 802 534 138 784 119

REVIEW OF THE INVESTMENT 
STRATEGY
Driving investment growth and value creation is very 
important to our shareholders. The board, through the 
investment committee, continually reviews its existing 
investment strategy and the key strategy is guided by 
the following: 

• Capital preservation: The mandate of  investing only 
in equities was revised particularly due to the fact 
that the prior mandate was not dynamic enough to 
address the JSE’s downturn over the past few years.

• Asset growth: In challenging economic times, every 
investor seeks marginal asset growth and SEI1 is 
no different. With the board resolute on containing 
costs to achieve marginal gain, it is anticipated that 
the revised investment strategy will yield targeted 
performance.

I am proud to present the annual report for the period ending 30 June 2019 
for Selective Empowerment Investments 1 Limited, a company built from the 
investments of  predominantly black investors with a view to creating their 
own wealth. 

SEI1 has experienced challenges since its establishment 
in 2007, and thus correcting this history has required 
the board to be meticulous and persistent in driving 
key strategies which will enable realisable outcomes 
for the shareholders. The board recognises that the 
shareholders have not benefited from their investments 
since establishment and has thus worked hard to create 
value which would enable a declaration of  dividends 
within a foreseeable period. 

The audit and risk committee continued to manage 
the company critical risks. The risk plan was put in 
place and is used to ensure that risks are tracked and 
managed. The social and ethics committee continued 
to address long-standing issues facing the business 
as fully reported on separately in this report. 

The board focused on the following six strategic areas:

IMPROVING GOVERNANCE 
The board and committees have been structured in 
a manner that enables quality and timely decisions 
to meet the urgency of  improving the company and 
delivering to the shareholders. 

CREATING A TRADING PLATFORM TO 
ENABLE THE TRADING OF SHARES
Critical to this has been ensuring that the shareholders 
are able to trade their shares in a system that is fair 
and transparent. This process takes time, but good 
progress has been made towards migrating onto a 
trading platform. It was determined that trading should 
be managed externally by credible service providers. 

In line with this, the memorandum of  incorporation 
(“MOI”) was amended and approved by the 
shareholders while other listings requirements were all 
but met when the relationship between the company 
and the service provider broke down, which slowed 
progress on this matter. In spite of  this, however, very 
good lessons were learnt which have enabled the 

REPORT OF THE CHAIRPERSON
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• Liquidity: Liquidity is aimed at providing the 
company with working capital necessary to fulfil 
short-term operational requirements and new 
investment commitments.

The company’s investment portfolio is currently largely 
invested in listed equities split into equities, fixed 
income accounts and bonds. As part of  the revised 
investment strategy, the company will be looking 
to invest a considerable portion of  its portfolio into 
unlisted equities. We will take a generalist approach 
with a focus on agriculture (agri and agri-processing), 
manufacturing, services and financial services (fintech 
and innovation).

BUILDING INTERNAL CAPACITY
The year under review was not without its challenges 
with the managing director Mr Zuko Ncemane resigning 
after a short period with the company. I must thank the 
two non-executive directors namely Dr Sihle Sibiya and  
Mr Tiro Motlogeleoa who acted in the position of  
managing director at different times contributing 
to stabilising the company and ensuring improved 
performance.

It was necessary to focus on improving internal 
capacity as most services had been outsourced 
for a long period. The challenge with outsourcing is 
that internal memory is lost and impedes continuity. 
Recruitment resulted in areas such as finance and 
strategy being put in place while at the same time 
strengthening areas of  administration. 

Various policies were approved including a finance 
procedure manual, budgeting processes, delegation 
of  authority and procurement policies.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT 
A process to map our stakeholders was initiated 
resulting in the stakeholder management strategy being 
approved by the board. This strategy was used to 
engage key stakeholders namely our shareholders and 
the Companies and Intellectual Property Commission 
(“CIPC”) on its litigation against directors and service 
providers. While many litigation cases were settled 
during the year, we continue to manage ongoing 
litigation. We keep our stakeholders informed of  the 
key litigation process against the company. Despite the 
cases arising from the past the board is determined to 
defend and manage them as appropriate. The board 
believes that the legacy issues identified in the case 
are receiving the necessary attention from the board 
and good progress has been made. Issues such as 
improving corporate governance, creating alternative 
revenues to support the business, cleaning out the 
share register and making shares tradeable are being 
addressed. The board is confident that with the current 
performance, the company will start declaring dividends 
to shareholders. 

See page 14 for further details on stakeholder 
engagement.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS
I would like to thank the directors, management and 
staff  of  SEI1 and all our stakeholders for assisting our 
business during these challenging times. 

TN Sindane
Board chairperson and non-executive director

Centurion
27 December 2019
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For shareholders, the major concerns were:

• Lack of  dividends;

• Lack of  communication; and

• Fear of  loss of  investment.

During this period, the CIPC was engaged and it 
responded positively to assisting in tracing institutional 
shareholders of  SEI1. Management made a 
commitment to comply with all the requirements of  the 
CIPC and implemented plans aimed at ensuring that 
all compliance requirements were fulfilled. 

The highlight of  the year was the development of  the 
stakeholder management plan, which clearly identified 
and classified the company stakeholders into primary, 
key and secondary stakeholders (refer to the table 
on page 7). Great effort was made to reach out to 
the shareholders mainly through a national roadshow 
where company updates were given and questions 
and concerns addressed. 

It has always been the company’s intention to create 
other sources of  income with income-generating 
projects and other investments. The idea of  income-
generating projects took shape towards the end of  this 
financial year. The management team started looking 
at various options and identified types of  consumable 
products that could form part of  the distribution 
initiative.

The board and management have steered the company in the right direction 
in the face of  many challenges.

The company leadership was faced with the momentous 
task of  not only addressing compliance issues but also 
of  managing and satisfying shareholders’ needs and 
expectations. This required an efficient balancing act 
by the board. Fortunately, the four new directors who 
joined in 2017 possessed the skill and experience to 
deliver what was expected.

The top focus areas for the regulatory body, CIPC, 
were the following:

• The annual financial statements;

• The share register;

• Annual general meetings (“AGM”); and

• The tradability of  shares.

A new managing director was appointed in 2018 whose 
tenure was short. This prompted the appointment 
of  an acting  managing director (“MD”) MD from the 
existing board. The leadership was able to pull out all 
the stops to ensure a successful seventh AGM in 2019. 
This challenging period included preparing the annual 
financial statements, annual report and the roadshows 
that helped in achieving a quorum where all resolutions 
were voted for. 

The board, management team and staff  together with 
external stakeholder support, addressed the CIPC’s 
concerns. This was due to the fact that the annual 
financial statements had not been compiled since 
the last AGM of  February 2014 and no further AGM 
was convened until 2018. In addition, the trading of  
shares was halted during the cancellation of  the 
management agreement with the former management 
of  the company. 

REPORT OF THE MANAGING DIRECTOR
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Special thanks to the SEI1 team, the board, 
management, staff  and all the stakeholders who 
directly and/or indirectly made all the successes of  
2018/19 possible.

Dr SS Sibiya
Acting managing director

Centurion
27 December 2019

Stakeholder Category Relationship Impact

Shareholders Primary Selective Empowerment Investments 1 shareholders High

Board Primary The board of  directors and its committees High

Staff  members Primary Full-time and temporary employees High/low

Service providers Secondary Banks, asset managers, the company secretary, legal firms, 
the auditor, IT companies, the transfer secretary, trading 
platform/exchange, consultants, etc.

Medium

Regulatory bodies Key CIPC, Financial Sector Conduct Authority, trading platform/
Johannesburg Stock Exchange, Department of  Trade and 
Industry, etc.

High

Government Key Department of  Labour High

Communities Secondary Residential areas of  shareholders Low

Media Secondary Newspapers, radio, TV, social media followers, etc. Medium

Low impact

Low impact in stakeholder analysis mean that the action 
and/or decisions of  these categories of  stakeholders 
whether positive or negative, will have minimal or no 
impact on the sustainability of  the company. 

Medium impact

This level of  impact is determined by the partial or 
temporary relations the company would ordinarily have 
with the grouping of  stakeholders considered with this 
level of  impact. The relations are based on the level 
of  dependency of  the company of  this grouping of  
stakeholder and the analysis indicates that they can be 
interchangeable due to vast competition for either their 
services or platforms. 

High Impact

The grouping of  stakeholders categorised to have a 
high impact on the sustainability of  the organisation 
requires significant attention as this grouping has the 
power to determine the status of  the organisation. When 
positively managed, the results will have a significant 
impact on the perception and outcomes influencing 
the sustainability of  the organisation around areas of  
compliance, decision making and alignment. When 
not managed well, the impact from this grouping of  
stakeholders can have adverse implications. 
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DIRECTORATE

TERRESA 
NONKULULEKO 
SINDANE
Independent non-executive 
director (Board chairperson)
LLB (University of  Natal);  
BProc (University of  Natal)

Date of appointment
17 August 2017

Nonkululeko is a qualified attorney 
having served her articles with a firm 
of  attorneys, Shepstone & Wylie, 
Durban, until she was admitted as 
an attorney and later a conveyancer. 
Nonkululeko has held several positions 
that include serving as director-general 
of  the Department of  Justice and 
Constitutional Development, deputy 
director-general at the Department of  
Transport and Public Enterprises and 
legal and risk manager for Umgeni 
Water. Other appointments pertaining 
to governance include the following: 
company secretary for Armscor and 
Eskom, chairperson of  the International 
Air Licensing Council, Search and 
Rescue Entity as well as the South 
African Civil Aviation Authority. 
Nonkululeko is the current CEO 
of  Mariswe Proprietary Limited.

DR SIHLE SICELO SIBIYA
Non-executive director 
PhD (IT) – DUT; MSc (Computer 
Science); BSc Hons (Computer 
Science); BSc (Computer 
Science)

Date of appointment
17 August 2017

Dr Sibiya has more than 10 years’ 
experience, during which time he 
has held various roles including 
candidate technologist, engineer, 
knowledge applicator, database 
developer, systems developer, ICT 
manager, chief  engineer, business 
development manager, executive: 
systems integration and managing 
director. He has extensive experience 
in using advanced research, analysis, 
strategic planning, leadership, conflict 
management and negotiation skills 
to successfully develop business 
initiatives while maximising profit, 
minimising costs and driving 
continuous change. Dr Sibiya is 
also an established academic with 
academic articles published in 
the field of  computer science and 
information technology.

MOSES MAJA
Executive director  
(Corporate services) 
MA (Management and 
Leadership) (LU); BSc (Industrial 
Engineering) (Wits); Secondary 
Teachers Diploma (MCE)

Date of appointment
28 November 2013

Mos is a qualified teacher and 
engineer with maths and science 
teaching experience. He worked as a 
railway engineer in Train Operations 
and Rolling Stock for Wits Metrorail 
and later joined SABMiller’s Operations 
in the Northern Region. He has also 
consulted extensively for a number 
of  businesses in the real estate, 
investments and health sectors. In 
addition to his role on the board of  
Selective Empowerment Investments 1 
Limited, Mos is currently the managing 
director of  Seboka Distributors, 
a 100% subsidiary of  Selective 
Empowerment Investments 1 Limited.
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MPHIKELELI SOLOMON 
TSIE
Independent non-executive 
director 
BSc (Actuarial Science and 
Mathematical Statistics);  
BSc (Hons) (Actuarial Science) 
(University of  the Witwatersrand)

Date of appointment
17 August 2017

Solly has experience in investments, 
including investment management, 
investment consulting, investment 
operations and client services. He has 
worked for large, medium and small 
financial services firms where he 
assumed various roles spanning 
from technical investment to client 
and business management. He also 
has experience in providing actuarial 
services to retirement funds and long-
term insurance companies.

TIRO MOTLOGELOA
Non-executive director
BCom (Statistics)  
(University of  Pretoria)

Date of appointment
17 August 2017

Tiro was previously employed at 
Absa as an economist in the group 
economic research division. He spent 
time at Investec Private Bank, followed 
by a move to Standard Bank, where 
he joined the card division working as 
an analyst. Tiro rose through the credit 
ranks and was instrumental in building 
a provisioning model for the credit card 
division, which also included Diners 
Club. He was also executive assistant 
to both the chief  executive and head of  
credit for personal markets at Standard 
Bank. He is an entrepreneur having 
started various businesses. 
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GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK
SEl1 through its board of  directors established the 
following committees during the period under review 
in line with good governance and the requirements of  
the Companies Act:

• Audit and risk committee

• Investment committee

• Social and ethics committee

• Remuneration and nomination committee

BOARD COMPOSITION
The board comprises the appropriate balance of  
knowledge, skills, experience, and independence 
to discharge its governance role and responsibilities 
objectively and collectively. The board comprises five 
directors; two independent non-executive directors, 
two non-executive directors and one executive director.

Board of directors

• Mr M Maja: Executive director

• Mrs TN Sindane: Independent non-executive director

• Mr MS Tsie: Independent non-executive director

• Mr T Motlogeloa: Non-executive director (acting 
managing director – June 2019)

• Dr SS Sibiya: Non-executive director (acting 
managing director – February 2019 to June 2019)

INDEPENDENCE
The independent non-executive directors are highly 
experienced and have the skills, background and 
knowledge to fulfil their responsibilities. The board 
believes that the independent non-executive directors 
of  SEl1 are of  the appropriate calibre and the members 
of  the committees of  the board are non-executive 
directors.

The classification of  independent non-executive directors 
is determined by the board on the recommendation of  the 
remuneration and nomination committee in accordance 
with the guidelines set out in King lV. In accordance with 
the independence requirements of  King lV, none of  the 
independent non-executive directors participate in any 
share incentive scheme of  SEl1.

KING IVTM COMPLIANCE*
SEl1 recognises and supports the principles and 
practices set out in King lV. SEl1 will continue to 
implement compliance to ensure that it applies the 
principles set out in King lV, monitoring and reporting 
to the appropriate governance structures. Refer to 
https://www.iodsa.co.za/page/KingIVReport.

Ongoing progress reports in this regard will be 
presented to the audit and risk committee.

Adhering to the highest standards of  corporate 
governance is fundamental to the sustainability 
of  SEl1’s business. SEI1’s business practices are 
conducted in good faith, in the interests of  SEI1 
and all its stakeholders, with due observance of  the 
principles of  good corporate governance. The board 
is the foundation of  SEl1’s corporate governance 
system and is accountable and responsible for SEl1’s 
performance. The board retains effective control of  the 
business of  SEl1 through a clear governance structure 
and has established sub-committees to assist it in 
accordance with the provisions of  SEl1’s board charter. 
The board recognises that delegating authority does 
not reduce the responsibility of  directors to discharge 
their statutory and common law fiduciary duties. The 
board continues to review its governance structures 
to ensure that they support effective decision-making, 
provide robust controls and are aligned to evolving 
local and global best practice.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SEI1 complies with applicable statutes, regulatory requirements and  
other authorities’ directives regulating its conduct. The principal applicable 
frameworks including the Companies Act, 71 of  2008, as amended  
(the “Companies Act”), and the regulations promulgated thereunder  
(the “Companies Regulations”) came into effect on 1 May 2011.

* Copyright of  IOD.
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DIRECTORS’ INDUCTION AND   
TRAINING
Board charter

The board charter was adopted by the board on  
28 September 2017 to ensure compliance with 
King lV and the Companies Act. The board charter 
sets forth the board’s role and responsibilities as well 
as the requirements for its composition and meeting 
procedures, noting that SEl1 is subject to corporate 
governance and the requirements of  the Companies 
Act. The roles and responsibilities of  the board as set 
out in the board charter include the following:

• Act as the focal point for, and custodian of, 
corporate governance by managing its relationship 
with management, the shareholders and other 
stakeholders of  SEI1 to build and maintain 
stakeholders’ trust and confidence in SEl1 aligned 
to sound corporate governance principles. ln this 
regard, the board will be expected to:

 –  acquire a working knowledge and understanding 
of  SEl1’s business and the laws, regulations and 
processes that govern its activities;

 –  be able to make sound business decisions and 
recommendations;

 –  exercise judgement independently, exercise 
stewardship at all times and uphold the highest 
degree of  ethics in all forms of  conduct;

 –  appreciate that strategy, risk, performance and 
sustainability are inseparable and to give effect 
to this by:

 – contributing to and approving the strategy;

 –  satisfying itself  that the strategy and business 
plans do not give rise to risks that have not been 
thoroughly assessed by management;

 –  identifying key performance and risk areas, which 
includes the responsibility of  setting SEl1’s level 
of  risk tolerance and limits for its risk appetite 
on an annual basis and monitoring the same 
accordingly;

 –  ensuring that the strategy will result in sustainable 
outcomes; and

 –  considering sustainability as a business 
opportunity that guides strategy formulation;

• Provide effective leadership on an ethical foundation;

• Ensure that SEl1 is and is seen to be a responsible 
corporate citizen by having regard to not only 
the financial aspects of  the business of  SEl1 but  

also the impact that business operations have 
on the environment and the society within which 
it operates;

• Ensure that SEI1’s ethics are managed effectively;

• Ensure that SEI1 has an effective and independent 
audit and risk committee;

• Be responsible for the governance of  risk;

• Be responsible for lT governance, which includes 
ensuring that information assets are identified, 
managed and treated as important business assets;

• Ensure that SEl1 complies with applicable laws 
and considers adherence to non-binding rules and 
standards;

• Appreciate that stakeholder’s perceptions affect 
SE1’s reputation;

• Act in the best interests of  SEl1 by ensuring that 
individual directors;

 – adhere to legal standards of  conduct;

 –  are permitted to take outside or other independent 
advice as it deems necessary in connection with 
their duties following an agreed procedure;

 –  disclose real or perceived conflicts to the board 
and deal with them accordingly;

• Report on the effectiveness of  SEl1’s system of  
internal control;

• Elect a chairperson of  the board that is an 
independent non-executive director; and

• Appoint and annually evaluate the performance of  
the managing director.

The board will comply with all relevant legislation and 
will be required to maintain strict confidentiality of  all 
information relating to the business of  SEl1, except 
to the extent that disclosure is required by law or 
regulation.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT continued

GOVERNANCE
The board approves the strategy of  SEI1 and has 
ultimate control of  the company according to its 
MOI and board charter. Through its oversight and 
strategic steer, it ensures that SEI1 capitalises on its 
opportunities as an ethical, decisive and responsible 
corporate citizen.

The careful selection of  individual directors, to ensure 
the most appropriate combination of  expertise and 
experience, underpins the effectiveness of  the board 
in fulfilling its role.

MANAGEMENT TEAM
The management team is responsible for the day-
to-day activities of  SEI1 including identification of  
investment opportunities, due diligence of  investment 
opportunities, monitoring of  investee companies for 
unlisted equities, liaising with the designated asset 
manager for the listed portfolio, reporting on the 
investment portfolio’s performance and driving non-
investment-related initiatives.

During the 2020 financial year, the board: In the 2021 financial year, the board intends to:

• Approved the group’s strategy and focus areas;

• Exercised oversight the group’s operational 
performance;

• Exercised oversight over the group’s financial 
performance;

• Approved and published the group’s financial 
results; and

• Approved a dividend payment of  5 cents per 
share.

• Monitor and measure progress against strategic 
objectives;

• Support and guide the executive team; 

• Actively manage risk;

• Measure progress against strategic objectives;

• Monitor the group’s operational and financial 
performance; and

• Ensure that the group adheres to best-practice 
corporate governance.

Meeting attendance

The 2018/2019 meeting attendance summary is shown below:

Directors
Board 

meetings

Special
board

meetings

Special
council

meetings

Remu-
neration 

and 
nomination
 committee
 meetings

Investment
 committee
 meetings

Social
and ethics
committee
 meetings

Ms TN Sindane 4/4 1/1 1/1 N/A 2/2 3/3

Mr MS Tsie 4/4 1/1 1/1 3/3 2/2 3/3

Mr M Maja 2/4 1/1 1/1 N/A N/A N/A

Dr SS Sibiya 4/4 1/1 1/1 3/3 2/2 3/3

Mr T Motlogeloa 2/4 1/1 1/1 3/3 2/2 N/A

Mr Z Ncemane* 1/4 1/1 N/A N/A N/A N/A

* Resigned 28 February 2019.
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We are pleased to present the report of  the social and 
ethics committee which is a committee established 
in terms of  regulation 43 promulgated in terms of  
section 72 of  the Companies Act. The committee was 
established by the board to fulfil the requirements 
of  legislation as well as drive the company towards 
socially responsible performance. The company is 
expected to and has identified key stakeholders for 
which specific strategies are being developed and 
implemented to meet the needs of  our stakeholders. 
These strategies are reported more specifically under 
the director’s report.

The committee continued to meet to address the 
issues of  the company and act in line with legislative 
requirements. The committee met three times during the 
year and attendance is set out on page 12.

MEMBERS OF THE COMMITTEE
The board is very small therefore each committee has 
a minimum number of  directors. Consequently, the 
board appointed Dr Sihle Sibiya as a member and 
Ms Nonkululeko Sindane to chair the committee. Other 
directors are encouraged to attend the meetings of  
the committee from time to time as will appear from 
the minutes.

GOVERNANCE
The issue of  constitution of  the committee was 
discussed. It was noted that the membership of  the 
committee was below the required threshold but 
that the appointment of  the managing director to the 
committee will resolve the situation in the short term. 
During the period under review, the committee had 
two non-executive directors with other directors invited 
to join the meetings from time to time. Dr Sibiya was 
nominated and agreed to chair the committee as 
the standing chairperson of  the committee, as the 
current chairperson of  the committee, was also the 
interim board chair and can therefore not chair the 
committee and be chairperson. The recommendations 
on appointing the managing director as the member 
of  the committee and Dr Sibiya to chair the committee 
were made to and approved by the board.

The committee further clarified that while one of  the 
managers invited to the committee meetings had 
been in management for more than three years, it 
was concluded that the said manager is an invitee 

who clarifies on matters of  the discussion and not a 
decision-maker of  the committee. With the appointment 
of  the managing director the said manager will no 
longer attend the committee meetings unless invited 
specifically to present on a specific subject.

It is anticipated that additional directors will be 
appointed to the board and that this will improve 
capacity of  the committee as at least one new member 
will be required to join the committee.

The committee continued to provide progress to 
the board on work done during the period either for 
approval or for noting. Critical during this period 
was the recommendation of  the committee’s terms 
of  reference to the board for approval. The terms 
of  reference are intended to guide the work of  the 
committee and can be updated from time to time as is 
required and by direction of  the board.

The committee emphasised that for efficiency of  
decision-making, directors must ensure attendance at 
board and committee meetings. This is also important 
for the listing process that the company is about to 
embark on as well as the issues that are currently 
under resolution with the CIPC.

Internal relations managed by the committee

The committee concluded that the internal dispute of  
the former chairperson and the manager should be 
resolved although the former chairperson has left the 
company. In particular, the committee recommended 
to the board that the matter be investigated by an 
external investigator under the leadership of  the 
remuneration and nomination (“REMNON”) committee. 
With the board approval, this matter will no longer be 
reported under the committee going forward but will 
be reported by the REMNOM committee.

The committee focused on policy development to 
improve management of  the company’s operations. 
Policies are necessary to bring certainty of  the 
acceptable and required behaviour of  everyone in 
the company. The effort in the coming months will be 
for the popularisation of  the policies so that everyone 
understands and abides by the said policies. Policies 
are also intended to ensure fairness in the treatment 
of  internal and external stakeholders. There will be a 
need to communicate the existence of  policies that 
affect external stakeholders. This will be done as and 
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when the said policies are developed. The policies 
developed during the period under review were as 
follows:

Disciplinary code

It is necessary for the committee to ensure that there 
is discipline in the company. The risk of  not having 
a disciplinary policy to deal with incidents of  lack of  
discipline was identified as an urgent matter hence the 
development and recommendation of  the disciplinary 
code to the board for approval. The disciplinary code 
has been approved and is now in place to guide and 
regulate behaviour.

Study assistance policy

The study assistance policy is necessary for the 
development of  the employees to enable them to be 
best equipped to deliver in terms of  their roles.

The committee noted that the company is in the 
process of  building a sustainable revenue base and 
concluded that while the policy is being recommended 
to the board for approval, it will be recommended  
that it is held in abeyance while the objective of  
revenue generation is met, otherwise the policy  
will not be affordable. The committee proposed  
that the study assistance policy be held in abeyance, 
pending improvement in the company’s financial 
performance.

Recruitment, selection and placement policy

The company did not have a policy in place dealing with 
recruitment, selection and replacement of  employees. 
It was noted that to ensure fairness and transparency 
of  how employees are recruited in the company, a 
policy is necessary. The committee recommended 
the recruitment, selection and placement policy to the 
board for approval.

It was noted that ordinarily this policy should be 
championed by the REMNOM committee, and it 
was agreed that upon approval by the board, the  
oversight over the implementation of  this policy should 
be the responsibility of  the REMNOM committee. 
This is intended to streamline the work of  committees  
and minimise the overlaps, and consequently the 
committee concluded to recommend to the board that the  
scope of  the REMNOM committee be broadened to 
include HR-related issues.

STAKEHOLDER MANAGEMENT
The shareholders are the biggest and most important 
stakeholders in the company. The shareholders had 
been complaining that they are not receiving feedback 
from the company on the issues they are raising. It was 
thus necessary to develop a policy to drive stakeholder 
engagement and improve communication with all our 
stakeholders including shareholders, regulators, etc.

Stakeholder management plan

The stakeholder management plan was approved 
to manage relations with stakeholders. The 
implementation plan will be developed breaking down 
the detail to manageable actions supported by the 
budget. The committee is happy that the stakeholder 
management plan is now in place because it will 
assist the company in managing the issues of  the 
stakeholders in a structured manner.

Feedback on roadshows

Management provided an update in respect of  the 
roadshows conducted for shareholders and the 
following was noted:

• There had generally been a low attendance of  
shareholders at roadshows;

• While some shareholders had provided proxies, 
others had expressed a willingness to attend the 
AGM;

• Management would be doing a reconciliation and 
statistics analysis on the status quo and will issue 
formal communication to all the committees in 
preparation for the AGM.

STAKEHOLDER MANAGEMENT 
REPORT
With respect to the CIPC case, management reported 
that according to the last communication from the 
attorneys:

• the State Attorney still had to pursue the matter and 
serve all the directors with court papers;

• the Commissioner had been engaged about the 
matter; and

• the Commissioner’s consent was not reflected on 
the papers.

SOCIAL AND ETHICS COMMITTEE REPORT continued
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Management was requested to follow up and take 
control of  all outstanding legal issues, as well as 
provide the attorneys with the required information 
so that this matter as well as all litigation matters are 
concluded.

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
While the issue of  financial sustainability of  the 
company was a concern, the committee was assured 
that management had issues of  financial sustainability 
under control. The financial improvements reported 
were not as a result of  the investment strategy, but 
rather financial improvement related to prudent 
spending. The portfolio manager was still behind 
in terms of  what had been budgeted as revenue in 
comparison to what was being received. Management 
advised that the investment strategy has only been 
implemented for two and a half  months, however, good 
returns were expected going forward. Had it not been 
for the withdrawals made in the month of  December 
2018, the performance would have been positive.

The committee’s concern of  ending the financial 
year in a loss situation because of  the investment 
manager, Pan-African Asset Management (“PAAM”) 
current performance and unforeseen expenditure 
was concluded on the basis that management 
would be revising the budget on revenue and 
costs to submit to the audit and risk committee for 
consideration. The estimated loss was approximated 
at over R1 million, based on management providing 
for certain events between December 2018 and  
July 2019. The projected expenditure included 
attorney’s fees for the CIPC case and AGMs 
among others.

SECURITIES REGISTER
Management reported that the securities register had 
a certain number of  shares issued that could not be 
allocated to individuals. This resulted in the differences 
on the financials but not on the securities register. The 
matter had been raised by the previous auditor and 
could only be resolved once a meeting was scheduled 
with one of  the partners with a view to understanding 
the difference on the total allocated number of  shares. 
The committee urged management to resolve the 
issue of  differences soon as this is one of  the issues 
of  compliance that had been raised by the CIPC.

OPERATIONS REPORT
Management has started devising new plans aimed at 
achieving sustainability while continuing to implement 
and monitor the approved strategic imperative where 
necessary. Processes and policies were currently 
under development with the following documents 
having been presented to the relevant committees for 
recommendation for board approval. These include:

• Disaster recovery plan;

• Stakeholder management plan; and

• Leave policy.

It was noted that on 1 August 2018, 4AX Exchange 
Registry were appointed to take over the transfer 
secretary function. It was also noted that management 
had been in discussions with CIPC (Mr Gideon Schutte) 
who had been assisting with regards to updating the 
4AX Registry with deviations on the share registry and 
progress was made in that regard.

It was noted that in respect of  knowledge management, 
saving all company information on the server was 
underway and would assist with purposes of  auditing, 
ease of  access to information in the event of  downtime 
and other related issues. The committee noted the 
strengthening of  internal capacity in line with the 
organisational structure specifically the appointment 
of  three employees at management level. It was noted 
that the appointments were made within the approved 
budget.

Reporting requirements are improving with weekly 
management, committee and board meetings taking 
place. Efforts to standardise reporting requirements 
by service providers are receiving favourable 
consideration. Management had identified a health and 
safety gap in the office and appointed two employees 
to undergo training as health and safety officers which 
they have passed. Management will also acquire 
office-based fire extinguishers as well as install health 
and safety signage where necessary.
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SOCIAL AND ETHICS COMMITTEE REPORT continued

AUTHORITY FOR EMPLOYEES TO BUY 
SEI1 SHARES
The committee considered a submission for approval 
of  authority for employees to buy SEI1 shares to 
ensure that there were adequate retention strategies 
in place while adhering to company policies. The 
committee supported the idea in broad terms but there 
were issues that needed clarification before the matter 
was properly ventilated at the board. Clarity needed 
to be provided on the requirements of  the Companies 
Act which require that any issuance of  shares must 
be for ‘adequate consideration’ as determined by 
the company’s board of  directors. Management was 
directed to investigate this proposal further and return 
it to the committee for consideration at an appropriate 
time.

On behalf  of  the social and ethics committee

TN Sindane
Social and ethics committee chairperson

Centurion
27 December 2019

Selective Empowerment Investments 1 Limited   |   Annual Report 2018/1916



INVESTMENT COMMITTEE REPORT

The investment committee is proud to present its 
inaugural report to all stakeholders of  Selective 
Empowerment Investments 1 Limited. The committee 
was established by the board to fulfil the requirements 
of  legislation as well as to oversee the company’s 
investment strategy to yield returns to shareholders 
but, most importantly, to ensure that there is sustainable 
growth within the business and its existing assets.

KEY HIGHLIGHTS
Much has been highlighted about the revised 
investment strategy in 2019 that among other things 
incorporates the following:

• Capital preservation;

• Asset growth; 

• Liquidity; and 

• Diversification.

The investment committee’s main focus for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2019 was to ensure 
alignment of  the investment portfolio with the 
revised investment strategy. This process entailed 
the investment committee, through management 
developing an extensive investment operational 
strategy in conjunction with the asset managers, PAAM 
to rebalance the portfolio in order to meet the required 
objectives. The process included the following:

• Determining the appropriate asset class portfolio 
split;

• Reviewing industries in which listed equities were 
invested; and 

• A switch in asset classes to have a more liquid 
portfolio.

INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO 
PERFORMANCE
The SEI1 investment portfolio was a moderate to high-
risk investment, with a primary objective of  capital 
preservation and long-term capital appreciation. It had 
a benchmark of  CPI +6% over a rolling 36-month period 
(the benchmark until September 2018 was the All Share 
Total Return Index). The portfolio’s investments included 
both listed investments such as equities, property, 
bonds, cash as well as unlisted investments. 

During the financial period to 30 June 2019, the 
portfolio’s investment strategy underwent a review 
from an aggressive equity only investment strategy 
to a multi-asset capital preservation strategy with 
high income and capital gains. This strategy review 
was necessitated by perceived misalignment of  the 
portfolio structure to the investor cash flow and long-
term investment return needs. Additionally, the risk 
appetite and tolerance for portfolio volatility was not 
supportive of  an equity only strategy.

Considerations that went into the strategy review 
implementation:

• Portfolio holdings meant that assets had to be sold 
to match liquidity needs i.e. operational requirement;

• Portfolio diversification;

• Client needed to pay dividends and still prolong life 
of  fund; and

• Capital preservation was done separately through 
the use of  derivatives.

Asset allocation

July 2018

June 2019

CHART 1

CHART 2

98%   Equity

  2%    Cash  
and Money 
Market

38%  Equity

32%  Bonds

  6%  Cash

22%   High income  
yielding 
Collective 
Investment 
Scheme

  2%   Listed 
property
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INVESTMENT COMMITTEE REPORT continued

The portfolio strategy change meant that its new-
look capital preservation focus was such that there is 
limited downside protection on the capital plus a high 
component of  dividends, coupons and interest to help 
meet liquidity needs. Charts 1 and 2 show the change 
in the portfolio asset allocation as at July 2018 versus  
June 2019. 

As depicted in chart 2, up to 60% of  the portfolio was 
in fixed income assets and the rest in general equities 
and property. In transitioning a portion of  the portfolio to 
fixed income, instruments held were carefully selected 
to give exposure to good quality investment-grade 
issuers while ensuring that a consistent, frequent and 
high level of  income is generated within the portfolio. 
As such, an average interest income of  R6 million was 
generated for the period July 2018 to June 2019. The 
fixed income investments were mainly made up of  
bond instruments and a small portion held in a high 
interest yielding call account.

A breakdown of  the underlying holdings within the 
fixed income portion is set out below:

Percentage

Pan African IP Income Hunter  
Unit Trust 21,79

Absa Bank 15,07

Investec Bank 7,85

Republic of  Namibia 7,29

Letshego Holdings Limited 4,39

Investec Call 4,32

Government of  South Africa 1,03

The fixed income component of  the portfolio contributed 
positively to the overall portfolio performance and was 
at a market value of  R68,437 million by June 2019. At an 
overall 2019 second quarter return of  3,8%, the fixed 
income component has been the strongest performing 
asset class within the portfolio, with the longer dated 
seven- to 12-year bonds being the best performing 
sector at a 4,9% return.

The portfolio’s circa 40% equity exposure was well 
diversified at sector level, largely invested in the 
following:

• Basic materials;

• Consumer goods;

• Consumer services;

• Financials;

• Industrials; and 

• Technology sectors. 

An overweight position in resources is held in the 
portfolio (+50% exposure) as we anticipate a stronger 
showing from the sector, coupled with a weaker 
remaining local currency. Holdings in equities were 
not limited to general equities only; the portfolio had  
circa R50,777 million in general equities and circa 
R1,208 million in specialist equity. 

Due to the preference for high income-generative 
assets within the portfolio, there is a bias to high 
dividend yielding stocks. As a result, over the year 
dividend inflows of  R1,921 million were received by 
the fund. The multi-asset fund strategy utilised a best 
of  breed combination of  both specialised equity and 
fixed income portfolios. 

This best of  breed approach led to the buy and sell trades 
within the local equity asset classes. This included the 
sale of  the foreign allocation in the portfolio which was 
held through the Allan Gray Orbis Global Equity Feeder 
Fund/Coronation Global Managed Feeder Fund and 
the Foord International Fund. Furthermore, exposure 
to outright local commodities which the portfolio had 
exposure to i.e. the New Palladium ETF and the New 
Gold Platinum ETFs were sold. 

The portfolio’s equity top 10 exposure:

Percentage

Anglo American PLC 5,13

BHP Group PLC 3,76

Naspers Limited 3,14

Glencore Xstrata PLC 2,50

Old Mutual Limited 1,81

Sappi Limited 1,70

Sasol Limited 1,47

The general benchmark for multi-asset class allocation 
funds is a 60/40 split in equity and fixed income. Given 
that the FTSE/JSE Capped Shareholder Weighted 
Index and Composite All Bond Index generated  
-0,33% and 8,9%, respectively for the period July 2018 
to June 2019, these funds had an expected return of  
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3,36% which is below money market return showing 
that the market environment remained difficult to 
generate positive returns. 

The focus on capital preservation and shrewd portfolio 
positioning worked well for the portfolio, as the portfolio 
achieved its capital preservation objective and grew 
by 6,77%.

Portfolio returns 

Portfolio CPI +6 %

One month 1,95 1,31

Quarter 1,96 2,44

Six months 5,63 4,75

One year 6,77 10,53

Summary portfolio balances and movements  
– July 2018 to June 2019

Market valuation allocation as at 30 June 2019 
Total R128 million

The fund had a net drop in market value of  circa  
R4,5 million after net market moves and cash outflows.

Given that the fund had withdrawals of  over  
R11,3 million, the gross effect on the portfolio for the 
period is that the fund grew by circa R6,8 million for 
the period.

Market valuation allocation 30 June 2018 
Total R132 million

CONCLUSION
The investment committee continues to look at new 
ways in which sustainable returns can be generated 
for the shareholders over the short- to medium-term 
period This process is ongoing and continues to yield 
positive results. The investment committee would like to 
thank the management team, the asset management 
team and PAAM for the work carried out in rebalancing  
SEI1’s investment portfolio in order to meet the  
required objectives as outlined in the revised 
investment strategy.

T Motlogeloa
Investment committee chairperson

Centurion
27 December 2019

51,99  Local equity

  7,59  Local cash

40,52  Local bonds

27,91   High income 

19,82  High income

79,75  Local equity

   0,51   Local 
commodities

   2,79   Local cash

29,66   Foreign unit 
trust
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES AND 
APPROVAL

The annual financial statements are prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards and the requirements of  the Companies 
Act of  South Africa and are based upon appropriate 
accounting policies consistently applied and 
supported by reasonable and prudent judgements 
and estimates.

The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately 
responsible for the system of  internal financial control 
established by the company and place considerable 
importance on maintaining a strong control 
environment. To enable the directors to meet these 
responsibilities, the board of  directors sets standards 
for internal control aimed at reducing the risk of  error 
or loss in a cost-effective manner. The standards 
include the proper delegation of  responsibilities within 
a clearly defined framework, effective accounting 
procedures and adequate segregation of  duties to 
ensure an acceptable level of  risk. These controls are 
monitored throughout the company and all employees 
are required to maintain the highest ethical standards 
in ensuring the company’s business is conducted 
in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is 
above reproach. The focus of  risk management in the 
company is on identifying, assessing, managing and 
monitoring all known forms of  risk across the company. 
While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the 
company endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that 
appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and 
ethical behaviour are applied and managed within 
predetermined procedures and constraints.

In terms of  section 88(2)(e) of  the Companies Act of  South Africa, as amended, I certify that the company has 
lodged with the Commissioner all such returns as are required of  a public company in terms of  the Companies Act 
and that all such returns are true, correct and up to date.

Imbokodvo Bethany Governance and Statutory Compliance Proprietary Limited
Company secretary

Centurion
27 December 2019

COMPANY SECRETARY’S CERTIFICATION

The directors are of  the opinion, based on the 
information and explanations given by management, 
that the system of  internal control provides reasonable 
assurance that the financial records may be relied on 
for the preparation of  the annual financial statements. 
Any system of  internal financial control can, however, 
provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance 
against material misstatement or loss.

The directors have reviewed the company’s cash flow 
forecast for the period to 30 June 2019 and, in light 
of  this review and the current financial position, they 
are satisfied that the company has or had access 
to adequate resources to continue in operational 
existence for the foreseeable future.

The external auditor is responsible for independently 
auditing and reporting on the company’s annual 
financial statements. The annual financial statements 
have been examined by the company’s external auditor 
and their report is presented on pages 25 to 27.

The annual financial statements set out on pages 28  
to 47, which have been prepared on the going concern 
basis, were approved by the board of  directors on  
27 December 2019 and were signed on their behalf  
by:

Approval of the annual financial statements

Dr SS Sibiya TN Sindane
Non-executive director  Non-executive director 

and board chairperson
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The directors have pleasure in submitting their report 
on the annual financial statements of  SEI1 for the 
period ended 30 June 2019.

REVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL RESULTS 
AND ACTIVITIES
The annual financial statements have been prepared 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards and the requirements of  the Companies 
Act of  South Africa. The accounting policies have been 
applied consistently compared to the prior year.

Full details of  the financial position, results of  
operations and cash flows of  the company are set out 
in these annual financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
There have been no changes in the authorised shares 
during the year. Directors noted 18 415 issued shares 
that were erroneously not added to the total issued 
share capital. The issued shares changed from  
138 784 119 to 138 802 534 during the period.

DIVIDENDS

The company’s dividend policy is to consider an interim 
and a final dividend in respect of  each financial year. 
At its discretion, the board of  directors may consider 
a special dividend, where appropriate. Depending on 
the perceived need to retain funds for expansion or 
operating purposes, the board of  directors may pass 
on the payment of  dividends.

A final dividend of  R0,05 per share was approved 
by the board of  directors on 1 September 2019 in  
South African currency in respect of  the year ended  
30 June 2019. The dividend payment date is  
30 September 2019 to shareholders recorded in 
the register of  the company at close of  business on  
30 September 2019.

The local dividends tax rate is 20%. The company has 
no dividends withholding tax credit available.

The board of  directors recommend the approval of  
a final dividend of  R0,05 (2018: Nil). The company 
withholds dividend tax and pays out dividends  
net of  tax.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

DIRECTORATE
The directors in office at the date of  this report are as follows:

Directors Office Designation

M Maja Director Executive

SS Sibiya Director Non-executive

TN Sindane Director Non-executive independent

T Motlogeloa Director Non-executive

MS Tsie Director Non-executive independent

BORROWING POWERS
Borrowing capacity is determined by the directors in terms of  the MOI, from time to time.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
On 1 September 2019, the company declared dividends at R0,05 per ordinary share in respect of  the financial year 
ended 30 June 2019, payable on 30 September 2019 to all shareholders. The number of  ordinary shares at the 
date of  this declaration is 138 802 534. The dividend will be subject to a local withholding tax rate of  20% which 
will result in a net dividend to those shareholders not exempt from paying dividend withholding tax of  R0,04 per 
ordinary share.
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DATE OF AUTHORISATION FOR THE 
ISSUE OF THE INTERIM ANNUAL 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial statements were authorised for issue 
by the directors on 27 December 2019. No authority 
was given to anyone to amend the annual financial 
statements after the date of  issue.

PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors have resolved to utilise the exception 
allowed under IFRS 10.4(a) not to present consolidated 
annual financial statements.

The annual financial statements set out on pages 23 to 
47, which have been prepared on the going concern 
basis, were approved by the board of  directors on  
27 December 2019 and were signed on its behalf  by:

Approval of the annual financial statements

Dr SS Sibiya TN Sindane
Non-executive director  Non-executive director 

and board chairperson

GOING CONCERN
The directors believe that the company has adequate 
financial resources to continue in operation for the 
foreseeable future and accordingly the annual financial 
statements have been prepared on a going concern 
basis. The directors have satisfied themselves that the 
company is in a sound financial position and that it 
has access to sufficient borrowing facilities to meet its 
foreseeable cash requirements. The directors are not 
aware of  any new material changes that may adversely 
impact the company. The directors are also not aware 
of  any material non-compliance with statutory or 
regulatory requirements or of  any pending changes to 
legislation which may affect the company.

AUDITOR
MKIVA Registered Auditors and Business Advisors 
continued in office as auditor for the company for the 
2018/2019 financial period.

At the AGM, the shareholders will be requested to 
reappoint MKIVA Registered Auditors and Business 
Advisors as the independent external auditor of  
the company and to confirm Mr Unathi Mkiva as the 
designated lead audit partner for the 2019 financial 
year.

COMPANY SECRETARY
The company secretary is Imbokodvo Bethany 
Governance and Statutory Compliance.

Business address: 501 Rooihuiskraal Road 
 Kosmosdal Ext 13 
 Centurion 0096
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AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE REPORT

This report is provided by the audit and risk committee appointed in respect of  the 2019 financial year of  SEI1.

CONSTITUTION OF THE AUDIT AND 
RISK COMMITTEE
The committee is constituted as a statutory committee 
in respect of  its statutory duties in terms of   
section 94(7) of  the Companies Act and a sub-
committee of  the board of  directors in respect of  all 
other duties assigned to it by the board. The committee 
assists the board in carrying out its functions relating to 
the safeguarding of  assets, the operation of  adequate 
risk management and control processes and the 
preparation of  annual financial statements in compliance 
with all applicable legislation and regulations, and the 
oversight of  the audit appointments and function.

Committee members and meetings held

During the period under review, the committee 
consisted of  four independent non-executive directors 
who are all suitably skilled and experienced. Refer to 
page 12.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR
During the period under review, the committee re-
appointed MKIVA Registered Auditors and Business 
Advisors as external auditor of  the company. The 
committee has satisfied itself  through enquiry that 
the external auditor is independent as defined by the 
Companies Act and as per the standards stipulated 
by the auditing profession. The committee agreed to 
the terms of  engagement. The audit fee paid to the 
external auditor has been considered and approved 
taking into consideration factors such as timing of  the 
audit, the extent of  the work required and the scope. 
The committee is satisfied that MKIVA Registered 
Auditors and Business Advisors are independent of  
the company.

The committee satisfied itself  through enquiry that 
the external auditor is independent as defined by the 
Companies Act and as per the standards stipulated 
by the auditing profession. Requisite assurance was 
sought and provided by the Companies Act that 
internal governance processes within the company 
support and demonstrate the claim to independence.

The audit and risk committee in consultation with 
executive management, agreed to the terms of  the 
engagement. The audit fee for the external audit 

has been considered and approved taking into 
consideration such factors as the timing of  the audit, 
the extent of  the work required and the scope.

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The committee has evaluated the annual financial 
statements of  the company for the period ended  
30 June 2019 and, to the best of  its knowledge and 
belief  considers that the company complies, in 
all material respects, with the requirements of  the 
Companies Act and International Financial Reporting 
Standards. The committee accordingly recommended 
the annual financial statements to the board for 
approval.

ACCOUNTING PRACTICES AND 
INTERNAL CONTROL
The committee has:

• reviewed the effectiveness of  the company’s system 
of  internal financial controls, including receiving 
assurance from management and the external 
auditor;

• reviewed policies and procedures for detecting and 
preventing fraud; and

• considered regulatory and accounting standard 
compliance by the company.

To the best of  its knowledge and based on the information 
and explanations provided by management, as well as 
discussions with the independent external auditor on 
the results of  their audit, the audit and risk committee 
is satisfied that there was no material breakdown in 
internal accounting controls during the period under 
review.

On behalf  of  the audit and risk committee

MS Tsie

Audit and risk committee chairperson

Centurion
27 December 2019
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Report to the shareholders of Selective 
Empowerment Investments 1 Limited 

OPINION 
We have audited the financial statements of  SEI1 
(“the company”), which comprise the statement of  
financial position as at 30 June 2019, the statement of  
comprehensive income, the statement of  changes in 
equity and the statement of  cash flows for the year then 
ended, and notes to the annual financial statements, 
including a summary of  significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying annual financial 
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of  the company as at 30 June 2019, 
and its financial performance and its cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) and the 
requirements of  the Companies Act, 71 of  2008 of  
South Africa. 

BASIS FOR OPINION 
We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit 
of  the Company’s Annual Financial Statements section 
of  our report. We are independent of  the company in 
accordance with the International Ethics Standards 
Board for Accountants’ Code of  Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (“IESBA Code”) together with the ethical 
requirements that are relevant to our audit of  the 
financial statements in South Africa, and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.

In accordance with our responsibilities in terms of  
sections 44(2) and 44(3) of  the Auditing Profession 
Act, responsibilities beyond those required under 
the International Standards on Auditing, we have 
not identified the matters to report as a reportable 
irregularity in terms of  the Auditing Profession Act. 

KEY AUDIT MATTERS 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our 
professional judgement, were of  most significance in 

our audit of  the company financial statements of  the 
year. These matters were addressed in the context of  
our audit of  the company financial statements as a 
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do 
not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

OTHER INFORMATION 
The directors are responsible for the other information. 
The other information comprises information included 
in the annual report which includes the directors’ 
report, the audit and risk committee report and the 
company secretary’s certification as required by the 
Companies Act of  South Africa. The other information 
does not include the company financial statements 
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the company annual financial 
statements does not cover the other information and 
we do not express an audit opinion or any form of  
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of  the company annual 
financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information and, in doing so, consider whether 
the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the company annual financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears 
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we 
have performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of  this other information, we are required 
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in 
this regard. 

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE 
DIRECTORS FOR THE COMPANY 
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
The directors are responsible for the preparation and 
fair presentation of  the company annual financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards and the requirements of  the 
Companies Act of  South Africa, and for such internal 
control as the directors determine is necessary to 
enable the preparation of  company annual financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT continued

In preparing the company annual financial statements, 
the directors are responsible for assessing the 
company’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of  
accounting unless the directors either intend to 
liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have 
no realistic alternative but to do so.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES 
FOR THE AUDIT OF THE COMPANY 
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the company financial statements as 
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of  assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of  users taken on the basis of  
these company annual financial statements. 

As part of  an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of  material 
misstatement of  the company annual financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
The risk of  not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of  internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of  internal control relevant 
to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of  expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of  the company’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of  accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of  accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the 
directors. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of  the directors’ 
use of  the going concern basis of  accounting and 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether 
a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
If  we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the company 
annual financial statements or, if  such disclosures 
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. 

  Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of  our auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the 
company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and 
content of  the company annual financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the company 
annual financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves 
fair presentation. 

We communicate with the directors regarding, among 
other matters, the planned scope and timing of  the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit. 

From the matters communicated with the directors, we 
determine those matters that were of  most significance 
in the audit of  the company financial statements of  
the year and are therefore the key audit matters. We 
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless 
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the 
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 
determine that a matter should not be communicated 
in our report because the adverse consequences of  
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh 
the public interest benefits of  such communication. 

OTHER REPORTS REQUIRED BY THE 
COMPANIES ACT 
As part of  our audit of  the annual financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2019, we have read the 
directors’ report for the purpose of  identifying whether 
there are material inconsistencies between this report 
and the audited annual financial statements. 
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The directors’ report is the responsibility of  the 
directors. Based on reading the directors’ report we 
have not identified material inconsistencies between 
this report and the audited annual financial statements. 
However, we have not audited the directors’ report and 
accordingly do not express an opinion thereon. 

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND 
REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS 
In accordance with our responsibilities in terms of  
sections 44(2) and 44(3) of  the Auditing Profession 
Act, we report that we have not identified unlawful 
acts or omissions committed by persons responsible 
for the management of  the company which constitute 
reportable irregularities in terms of  the Auditing 
Profession Act, and have not reported any matter to 
the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors. 

NON-COMPLIANCE WITH THE 
COMPANIES ACT OF SOUTH AFRICA 
As required by the Companies Act, 2008 of  South 
Africa, we have nothing to report on material instances 
of  non-compliance with the requirements of  the 
Companies Act of  South Africa as amended as nothing 
has come to our attention during the course of  our 
audit. 

AUDIT TENURE 
In terms of  the IRBA Rule published in Government 
Gazette Number 39475 dated 4 December 2015, 
we report that MKIVA Registered Auditors and 
Business Advisors has been the auditor of  Selective 
Empowerment Investments 1 Limited for one year. 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this 
independent auditor’s report is Mr Unathi Mkiva. 

MKIVA Registered Auditors and Business 
Advisors Registered Auditors 
Chartered Accountants (SA) 
Per: Unathi Mkiva 

27 December 2019
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Figures in Rand Notes 2019 2018

ASSETS
Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 3 270 279 403 351

Interest in unconsolidated structured entities 4 100 100

Investments at fair value 5 150 973 894 152 475 205

Deferred tax 11 – 326 455

151 244 273 153 205 111

Current assets

Loans to group companies 6 89 874 –

Trade and other receivables 7 433 675 202 564

Current tax receivable 19 – 1 010 844

Cash and cash equivalents 8 1 259 173 1 893 503

1 782 722 3 106 911

Total assets 153 026 995 156 312 022

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity

Share capital 9 112 123 493 112 123 493

Reserves 2 113 155 28 606 363

Retained income 24 750 835 4 326 741

138 987 483 145 056 597

Liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Deferred tax 11 6 997 109 8 341 388

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 12 342 513 1 378 336

Current tax payable 19 5 206 061 –

Other financial liabilities 13 1 493 171 1 535 701

Bank overdraft 8 658 –

7 042 403 2 914 037

Total liabilities 14 039 512 11 255 425

Total equity and liabilities 153 026 995 156 312 022

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
as at 30 June 2019
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Figures in Rand Notes 2019 2018

Revenue 14 8 322 460 4 820 279

Other operating income 15 29 788 489 1 493 623

Other operating expenses (10 309 141) (11 977 669)

Operating profit/(loss) 16 27 801 808 (5 663 767)

Finance costs 17 – (73 129)

Profit/(loss) before taxation 27 801 808 (5 736 896)

Taxation 18 (4 554 821) 326 455

Profit/(loss) for the year 23 246 987 (5 410 441)

Other comprehensive income:

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss:

Gross amount available-for-sale financial assets adjustments (32 427 687) 5 871 598

Tax amount available-for-sale financial assets adjustments 5 934 479 (2 546 306)

Total items that may be reclassified to profit or loss (26 493 208) 3 325 292

Other comprehensive income for the year net of taxation (26 493 208) 3 325 292

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year (3 246 221) (2 085 149)

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the year ended 30 June 2019
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Figures in Rand
Share

capital

Fair value
adjustment

assets
available-

for-sale
reserve

Retained 
earnings Total

Opening balance as previously reported 112 123 493 35 578 237 1 815 696 149 517 426

Adjustments profit for the year – – 7 921 486 7 921 486

Total other comprehensive income – (10 297 166) – (10 297 166)

Balance at 1 July 2017 as restated 112 123 493 25 281 071 9 737 182 147 141 746

Loss for the year – – (5 410 441) (5 410 441)

Other comprehensive income – 3 325 292 – 3 325 292

Total comprehensive profit/(loss) for the year – 3 325 292 (5 410 441) (2 085 149)

Balance at 1 July 2018 112 123 493 28 606 363 4 326 741 145 056 597

Profit for the period – – 20 424 094 20 424 094

Other comprehensive income – (26 493 208) – (26 493 208)

Total comprehensive gain/(loss) for the year – (26 493 208) 20 424 094 (6 069 114)

Balance at 30 June 2019 112 123 493 2 113 155 24 750 835 138 987 483

Note 9

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the year ended 30 June 2019
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Figures in Rand Notes 2019 2018

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit/(loss) for the year 23 246 987 (5 410 441)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation 174 635 199 786

Profit on disposal (29 788 489) (1 181 422)

Income tax (4 554 821) (326 455)

Finance costs – 73 129

Changes in working capital

Trade and other receivables (231 110) 48 348

Trade and other payables (1 035 824) 1 516 097

Cash used in operations (12 188 622) (5 080 958)

Finance costs – (73 129)

Tax paid 19 (5 645 790) 237 593

Net cash from operating activities (17 834 412) (4 916 494)

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of  property, plant and equipment 3 (98 104) (188 134)

Sale of  property, plant and equipment 3 56 543 26 064

Loans advanced to group companies 89 874 –

Purchase of  investments at fair value (256 821 979) (30 017 215)

Sale of  investments at fair value 273 973 091 29 562 149

Net cash from investing activities 17 199 424 (617 136)

Cash flows from financing activities

Total cash movement for the year (634 988) (5 533 629)

Cash at the beginning of  the year 1 893 503 7 427 132

Total cash at the end of the year 8 1 258 515 1 893 503

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
for the year ended 30 June 2019
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revised and in any future periods affected.

1.3 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets 
which the company holds for its own use or for rental 
to others and which are expected to be used for more 
than one year.

An item of  property, plant and equipment is recognised 
as an asset when it is probable that future economic 
benefits associated with the item will flow to the 
company, and the cost of  the item can be measured 
reliably.

Property, plant and equipment is initially measured 
at cost. Cost includes all of  the expenditure which is 
directly attributable to the acquisition or construction 
of  the asset, including the capitalisation of  borrowing 
costs on qualifying assets and adjustments in respect 
of  hedge accounting, where appropriate.

Expenditure incurred subsequently for major services, 
additions to or replacements of  parts of  property, 
plant and equipment are capitalised if  it is probable 
that future economic benefits associated with the 
expenditure will flow to the company and the cost can 
be measured reliably. Day-to-day servicing costs are 
included in profit or loss in the interim period in which 
they are incurred.

Property, plant and equipment is subsequently stated 
at cost less accumulated depreciation and any 
accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation of  an asset commences when the asset 
is available for use as intended by management. 
Depreciation is charged to write off  the asset’s 
carrying amount over its estimated useful life to its 
estimated residual value, using a method that best 
reflects the pattern in which the asset’s economic 
benefits are consumed by the company. Leased 
assets are depreciated in a consistent manner over 
the shorter of  their expected useful lives and the 
lease term. Depreciation is not charged to an asset 
if  its estimated residual value exceeds or is equal to 
its carrying amount. Depreciation of  an asset ceases 
at the earlier of  the date that the asset is classified as 
held for sale or derecognised.

CORPORATE INFORMATION
SEI1 is a public company incorporated and domiciled 
in South Africa.

The annual financial statements for the period ended  
30 June 2019 were authorised for issue in 
accordance with a resolution of  the directors on  
20 December 2019.

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES
The principal accounting policies applied in the 
preparation of  these annual financial statements are 
set out below.

1.1 Basis of preparation

The annual financial statements have been prepared 
on the going concern basis in accordance with, and 
in compliance with, International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”) and International Financial 
Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) 
interpretations issued and effective at the time of  
preparing these annual financial statements and the 
Companies Act of  South Africa, as amended.

The annual financial statements have been prepared 
on the historical cost convention, unless otherwise 
stated in the accounting policies which follow and 
incorporate the principal accounting policies set 
out below. They are presented in Rand, which is the 
company’s functional currency.

These accounting policies are consistent with the 
previous period.

1.2 Significant judgements and sources of 
estimation uncertainty

The preparation of  financial statements in conformity 
with IFRS requires management, from time to time, to 
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the application of  policies and reported amounts 
of  assets, liabilities, income and expenses. These 
estimates and associated assumptions are based on 
experience and various other factors that are believed 
to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual 
results may differ from these estimates. The estimates 
and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an 
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimates are 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
for the year ended 30 June 2019
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The useful lives of  items of  property, plant and equipment have been assessed as follows:

Item Depreciation method Average useful life

Leasehold improvements Straight-line 20% per annum

Computer software Straight-line 20% per annum

Office furniture Straight-line 7,5% to 20% per annum

Motor vehicles Straight-line 25% per annum

IT equipment Straight-line 33,3% per annum

Furniture and fittings Straight-line 10% to 33,3% per annum

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method 
of  each asset are reviewed at the end of  each reporting 
year. If  the expectations differ from previous estimates, 
the change is accounted for prospectively as a change 
in accounting estimate.

Each part of  an item of  property, plant and equipment 
with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost 
of  the item is depreciated separately.

The depreciation charge for each interim period is 
recognised in profit or loss unless it is included in the 
carrying amount of  another asset.

Impairment tests are performed on property, plant 
and equipment when there is an indicator that they 
may be impaired. When the carrying amount of  an 
item of  property, plant and equipment is assessed to 
be higher than the estimated recoverable amount, an 
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit 
or loss to bring the carrying amount in line with the 
recoverable amount.

An item of  property, plant and equipment is 
derecognised upon disposal or when no future 
economic benefits are expected from its continued 
use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising from the 
derecognition of  an item of  property, plant and 
equipment, determined as the difference between the 
net disposal proceeds, if  any, and the carrying amount 
of  the item, is included in profit or loss when the item 
is derecognised.

1.4 Financial instruments

Financial instruments held by the company are 
classified in accordance with the provisions of   
IFRS 9: Financial Instruments. Broadly, the classification 

possibilities, which are adopted by the company, as 
applicable, are as follows:

Financial assets which are equity instruments:

• Mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss; or

• Designated at fair value through other 
comprehensive income. (This designation is not 
available to equity instruments which are held for 
trading or which are contingent consideration in a 
business combination.)

Financial assets which are debt instruments:

• Amortised cost. (This category applies only when 
the contractual terms of  the instrument give rise, 
on specified dates, to cash flows that are solely 
payments of  principal and interest on principal, and 
where the instrument is held under a business model 
whose objective is met by holding the instrument to 
collect contractual cash flows); 

• Fair value through other comprehensive income. 
(This category applies only when the contractual 
terms of  the instrument give rise, on specified dates, 
to cash flows that are solely payments of  principal 
and interest on principal, and where the instrument 
is held under a business model whose objective is 
achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows 
and selling the instruments); 

• Mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss. 
(This classification automatically applies to all 
debt instruments which do not qualify at amortised 
cost or at fair value through other comprehensive 
income); or

• Designated at fair value through profit or loss. (This 
classification option can only be applied when it 
eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting 
mismatch).
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES continued

Financial liabilities:

• Amortised cost; 

• Mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss. (This 

applies to contingent consideration in a business 

combination or to liabilities which are held for 

trading); or

• Designated at fair value through profit or loss. 

(This classification option can be applied when it 

eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting 

mismatch; the liability forms part of  a group of  

financial instruments managed on a fair value 

basis; or it forms part of  a contract containing  

an embedded derivative and the entire contract  

is designated at fair value through profit  

or loss).

Note 23 Financial instruments and risk management 

presents the financial instruments held by the company 

based on their specific classifications.

All regular way purchases or sales of  financial assets 

are recognised and derecognised on a trade date 

basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases 

or sales of  financial assets that require delivery of  

assets within the time frame established by regulation 

or convention in the marketplace.

The specific accounting policies for the classification, 

recognition and measurement of  each type of   

financial instrument held by the company are  

presented below:

Trade and other receivables 

Classification

Trade and other receivables, excluding, when 

applicable, VAT and prepayments, are classified as 

financial assets subsequently measured at amortised 

cost (note 7).

They have been classified in this manner because  

their contractual terms give rise, on specified  

dates, to cash flows that are solely payments of  

principal and interest on the principal outstanding, 

and the company’s business model is to collect  

the contractual cash flows on trade and other 

receivables.

Recognition and measurement

Trade and other receivables are recognised when 
the company becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of  the receivables. They are measured, at 
initial recognition, at fair value plus transaction costs, 
if  any.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost.

The amortised cost is the amount recognised on the 
receivable initially, minus principal repayments, plus 
cumulative amortisation (interest) using the effective 
interest method of  any difference between the initial 
amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss 
allowance.

Trade and other payables 

Classification

Trade and other payables (note 12), excluding VAT and 
amounts received in advance, are classified as financial 
liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Recognition and measurement

They are recognised when the company becomes a 
party to the contractual provisions, and are measured, 
at initial recognition, at fair value plus transaction costs, 
if  any.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of  calculating 
the amortised cost of  a financial liability and of  
allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The 
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash payments (including all fees and 
points paid or received that form an integral part of  
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other 
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of  
the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter 
period, to the amortised cost of  a financial liability.

Trade and other payables expose the company 
to liquidity risk and possibly to interest rate risk. 
Refer to note 23 for details of  risk exposure and the 
management thereof.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are stated at carrying 
amount which is deemed to be fair value.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

for the year ended 30 June 2019
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1.5 Tax

Current tax assets and liabilities

Current tax for current and prior periods is, to the 

extent unpaid, recognised as a liability. If  the amount 

already paid in respect of  current and prior periods 

exceeds the amount due for those periods, the excess 

is recognised as an asset.

Current tax liabilities (assets) for the current and prior 

periods are measured at the amount expected to be 

paid to (recovered from) the tax authorities, using 

the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted 

or substantively enacted by the end of  the reporting 

period.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities

A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable 

temporary differences, except to the extent that the 

deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition 

of  an asset or liability in a transaction which at the time 

of  the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor 

taxable profit (tax loss).

A deferred tax asset is recognised for all deductible 

temporary differences to the extent that it is  

probable that taxable profit will be available against 

which the deductible temporary difference can be 

utilised. A deferred tax asset is not recognised when  

it arises from the initial recognition of  an asset or 

liability in a transaction at the time of  the transaction, 

affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit  

(tax loss).

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the 

tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when 

the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based 

on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted 

or substantively enacted by the end of  the reporting 

period.

Tax expenses

Current and deferred taxes are recognised as income 

or an expense and included in profit or loss for the 

period, except to the extent that the tax arises from:

• a transaction or event which is recognised, in the 

same or a different period, to other comprehensive 

income, or

• a business combination.

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited 
to other comprehensive income if  the tax relates to 
items that are credited or charged, in the same or a 
different period, to other comprehensive income.

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited 
directly to equity if  the tax relates to items that are 
credited or charged, in the same or a different period, 
directly in equity.

1.6 Leases

A lease is classified as a finance lease if  it transfers 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership. A lease is classified as an operating lease 
if  it does not transfer substantially all the risks and 
rewards incidental to ownership.

Operating leases – lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an 
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
The difference between the amounts recognised 
as an expense and the contractual payments are 
recognised as an operating lease asset. This liability 
is not discounted.

Any contingent rents are expensed in the period they 
are incurred.

1.7 Share capital and equity

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences 
a residual interest in the assets of  an entity after 
deducting all of  its liabilities.

Ordinary shares are recognised at par value and 
classified as ‘share capital’ in equity. Any amounts 
received from the issue of  shares in excess of  par value 
is classified as ‘share premium’ in equity. Dividends 
are recognised as a liability in the company in which 
they are declared.

1.8 Revenue

Revenue comprises of  investment income (dividends 
received and interest received from listed investments).
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2. NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
2.1 Standards and interpretations effective and adopted in the current year

In the current year, the company has adopted the following standards and interpretations that are effective for the 
current financial year and that are relevant to its operations:

Standard/interpretation

Effective date:  
Years beginning  
on or after Expected impact

• IFRS 9: Financial Instruments 1 January 2018 The adoption of  this standard has not had a 
material impact on the results of  the company, but 
has resulted in more disclosure than would have 
previously been provided in the annual financial 
statements.

• IFRS 15: Revenue from Contracts 
with Customers

1 January 2018 The adoption of  this standard has not had a 
material impact on the results of  the company, but 
has resulted in more disclosure than would have 
previously been provided in the annual financial 
statements.

• Amendments to IFRS 15: 
Clarifications to IFRS 15: Revenue 
from Contracts with Customers

1 January 2018 The adoption of  this standard has not had a 
material impact on the results of  the company, but 
has resulted in more disclosure than would have 
previously been provided in the annual financial 
statements.

• Amendments to IAS 28: Annual 
Improvements to IFRS 2014 – 
2016 cycle

1 January 2018 Unlikely there will be a material impact.

• Amendments to IFRS 1: Annual 
Improvements to IFRS 2014 – 
2016 cycle

1 January 2018 The adoption of  this standard has not had a 
material impact on the results of  the company, but 
has resulted in more disclosure than would have 
previously been provided in the annual financial 
statements.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

for the year ended 30 June 2019
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3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

2019 2018

Figures in Rand Cost

Accu-
mulated 

depreciation
Carrying

 value Cost

Accu-
mulated 

depreciation
 Carrying

 value

Leasehold  
Improvements 279 056 (258 860) 20 196 279 056 (228 565) 50 491

Furniture and fixtures 322 057 (222 128) 99 929 322 057 (156 955) 165 102

Motor vehicles – – – 188 477 (125 652) 62 825

Office equipment 363 188 (267 882) 95 306 314 356 (210 163) 104 193

Computer software 70 365 (15 517) 54 848 21 093 (353) 20 740

Total 1 034 666 (764 387) 270 279 1 125 039 (721 688) 403 351

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment 

Figures in Rand
Opening
balance Additions Disposals

Depre-
ciation Total

2019

Leasehold improvements 50 491 – – (30 295) 20 196

Furniture and fixtures 165 102 – – (65 172) 99 930

Motor vehicles 62 825 – (56 543) (6 282) –

IT equipment 104 193 48 832 – (61 585) 91 440

Computer software 20 740 49 272 – (11 301) 58 711

403 351 98 104 (56 543) (174 635) 270 277

2018

Leasehold improvements 112 681 – – (62 190) 50 491

Furniture and fixtures 118 372 120 671 (26 063) (47 878) 165 102

Motor vehicles 100 521 – (1) (37 695) 62 825

IT equipment 109 494 46 370 – (51 671) 104 193

Computer software – 21 093 – (352) 20 741

441 068 188 134 (26 064) (199 786) 403 352

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED  
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 June 2019
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4. INTERESTS IN UNSTRUCTURED ENTITIES

Figures in Rand

Country of
incorporation
and principal
place of 
business

Carrying
amount

2019

Carrying
amount

2018

Name of entity

Bestcut Distributors Proprietary Limited South Africa 100 100

Application of consolidation exemption

The annual financial statements presented are not consolidated annual financial statements as the entity qualifies 
for the consolidation exemption in IAS 27: Separate and Consolidated Financial Statements.

The exemption is allowed provided that all of  the following criteria are complied with:

• The entity is wholly owned or partially owned, where none of  the other shareholders object to the fact that 
consolidated annual financial statements are not prepared;

• The entity’s debt or equity instruments are not traded in a public market;

• The entity did not file, and is not in the process of  filing its financial statements with a securities commission or 
other regulatory organisation for the purpose of  issuing any class of  instrument in a public market; and

• The entity’s ultimate or intermediary parent produces consolidated annual financial statements available for 
public use which comply with International Financial Reporting Standards.

5. INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE
Investments held by the company which are measured at fair value, excluding derivatives are as follows:

Figures in Rand 2019 2018

Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income 150 973 894 152 475 205

Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income

Listed shares 127 997 965 102 013 104

Unlisted shares 22 975 929 20 797 590

Unit trusts – 29 664 411

150 973 894 152 475 205

Initial adoption of IFRS 9

IFRS 9: Financial Instruments was adopted in the current year and replaces IAS 39. This note reflects the application 
of  IFRS 9 to the specified instruments.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

for the year ended 30 June 2019 
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6. LOAN TO GROUP COMPANY

Figures in Rand 2019 2018

Subsidiaries

Bestcut Distributors Proprietary Limited 89 874 1 828 198

Impairment – Loans to subsidiary – Short term – (1 828 198)

89 874 –

The loan is unsecured, interest free and has no repayment terms.

During the previous financial year, the remaining loan from Bestcut Distributors Proprietary Limited was impaired 
in full, as the carrying amount of  the loan before impairment exceeded the recoverable amount of  the loan. In 
previous financial years, the company invested new funds into Bestcut Distributors Proprietary Limited in order 
to enable Bestcut Distributors Proprietary Limited to invest in low risk taxable interest-bearing assets in order for 
Bestcut Distributors Proprietary Limited to utilise its tax losses.

7. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Figures in Rand 2019 2018

Financial instruments

Trade receivables 792 (1)

Deposits 66 665 188 058

Non-financial instruments

VAT 351 711 –

Staff  loans 14 507 14 507

Total trade and other receivables 433 675 202 564

The carrying amount of  trade and other receivables approximates their fair value.

8. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Figures in Rand 2019 2018

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

Cash on hand 1 193 10 601

Bank balances 1 257 980 528 583

Term deposits – 1 354 319

Bank overdraft (658) –

1 258 515 1 893 503

Current assets 1 259 173 1 893 503

Current liabilities (658) –

1 258 515 1 893 503

Cash and cash equivalents comprises cash held. The carrying amount of  these assets approximates their fair 
value. Interest at variable rates linked to the prime lending rate is earned on these balances.
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9. SHARE CAPITAL

Figures in Rand 2019 2018

Authorised

2 000 000 000 ordinary shares of  no par value 2 000 000 000 2 000 000 000

Reconciliation of number of shares issued

Reported as at 1 July 2018 138 784 119 138 784 119

Prior year error – shares not accounted 18 415 –

138 802 534 138 784 119

Issued

138 802 534 ordinary shares at no par value 112 123 493 112 123 493

10. FAIR VALUE ADJUSTMENT ASSETS AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE RESERVE

Figures in Rand 2019 2018

Fair value adjustment assets available-for-sale reserve 2 113 155 28 606 363

11. DEFERRED TAXATION

Figures in Rand 2019 2018

Deferred tax liability

Deferred tax liability (6 997 109) (8 341 387)

Deferred tax asset

Tax losses available for offset against future taxable income – 326 455

The deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liability relate to income tax in the 
same jurisdiction, and the law allows net settlement. Therefore, they have been 
offset in the statement of  financial position as follows:

Deferred tax liability (6 997 109) (8 341 387)

Deferred tax asset – 326 455

Total net deferred tax liability (6 997 109) (8 014 932)

Reconciliation of deferred tax asset/(liability)

At the beginning of  the year (8 014 932) (5 795 082)

Taxable/(deductible) temporary difference on revaluation of  investments  
– movement through other comprehensive income 5 934 478 (2 546 305)

Increase/(decrease) in temporary differences as a result of  items  
accounted for in other comprehensive income (4 916 655) 326 455

(6 997 109) (8 014 932)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

for the year ended 30 June 2019 

Selective Empowerment Investments 1 Limited   |   Annual Report 2018/1940



11. DEFERRED TAXATION continued

Recognition of deferred tax asset 

An entity shall disclose the amount of  a deferred tax asset and the nature of  the evidence supporting its recognition, 
when:

• the utilisation of  the deferred tax asset is dependent on future taxable profits in excess of  the profits arising from 
the reversal of  existing taxable temporary differences; and

• the entity has suffered a loss in either the current or preceding period in the tax jurisdiction to which the deferred 
tax asset relates.

Use and sales rate

The deferred tax rate applied to the fair value adjustments of  investment properties/financial assets is determined 
by the expected manner of  recovery. Where the expected recovery of  the investment property/financial asset is 
through sale the capital gains tax rate of  18,66% (2018: 18,66%) is used. If  the expected manner of  recovery is 
through indefinite use, the normal tax rate of  28% (2018: 28%) is applied.

12. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Figures in Rand 2019 2018

Financial instruments

Trade payables 116 716 467 688

Salaries and wages control account 6 733 –

Accrued liabilities 216 290 907 874

Other creditors 2 774 2 774

342 513 1 378 336

13. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE

Figures in Rand 2019 2018

Selective Empowerment Investments 2 1 493 171 1 535 701

The loan is unsecured, bears interest at 5% per annum compounded monthly 
and is payable on demand. Due to its short-term nature, the other financial 
liabilities reflect their fair value.

Split between non-current and current portions

Current liabilities 1 493 171 1 535 701

Selective Empowerment Investments 1 Limited   |   Annual Report 2018/19 41



14. REVENUE

Figures in Rand 2019 2018

Interest received 5 536 253 1 095 128

Dividends received 2 786 207 3 725 151

8 322 460 4 820 279

15. OTHER INCOME

Figures in Rand 2019 2018

Administration/management fees received – 312 201

Profit on sale of  investments 29 788 489 1 181 422

29 788 489 1 493 623

16. OPERATING PROFIT/(LOSS)
Operating profit/(loss) for the year is stated after charging (crediting) the following, among others:

Figures in Rand 2019 2018

Auditor's remuneration – external

Audit fees 309 309 196 126

Profit on sale of  investments 29 788 489 1 181 422

Administration fees – 312 201

Depreciation and amortisation

Depreciation of  property, plant and equipment 174 635 199 786

17. FINANCE COSTS

Figures in Rand 2019 2018

Loan from related party – 73 129

18. TAXATION

Figures in Rand 2019 2018

Major components of the tax expense 

Current

CGT 4 554 821 –

Deferred

Movement in temporary differences – (326 455)

4 554 821 (326 455)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

for the year ended 30 June 2018 
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18. TAXATION continued

Reconciliation of the tax expense 

Reconciliation between accounting profit and tax expense. 

Figures in Rand 2019 2018

Accounting (loss)/profit 27 801 808 (5 736 896)

Tax at the applicable tax rate of  28% (2018: 28%) 7 784 506 (1 606 331)

Tax effect of adjustments on taxable income

Disallowed expenses 191 146 2 587 557

Non-taxable income 3 251 790 (1 043 032)

Capital (gains)/losses at capital gains tax rate (6 672 621) (264 649)

4 554 821 (326 455)

19. INCOME TAXATION IN THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Figures in Rand 2019 2018

Balance at the beginning of  the year 1 010 844 1 248 437

Current tax for the year recognised in profit or loss (6 216 905) –

Provisional tax paid and refunded – 51 339

Refund received – (288 932)

(5 206 061) 1 010 844

20. RELATED PARTIES
Relationships

Subsidiaries Refer to note 4

Members of  key management MS Tsie
 TN Sindane 
 SS Sibiya
 T Motlogeloa 
 M Maja
 Z Ncemane (Managing director) – Resigned

Figures in Rand 2019 2018

Related party balances
Loan accounts – Owing (to)/by related parties

Selective Empowerment Investments 2 Limited (1 493 171) (1 535 701) 

Bestcut Distributors Proprietary Limited 89 874 –

Related party transactions
Administration fees paid to/(received from) related parties

Selective Empowerment Investments 2 Limited – (312 200)
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21. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
Executives

Figures in Rand Salary
Other

benefits
Pension
benefits

Leave
pay Total

2019

M Maja 522 298 24 314 22 804 15 553 584 969

SS Sibiya 300 000 – – – 300 000

T Motlogeloa 75 000 – – – 75 000

897 298 24 314 22 804 15 553 959 969

Figures in Rand Salary
Pension
benefits

Expense
allowance Total

2018

M Maja 497 868 – 192 909 690 777

M Tshishonga 604 526 68 814 – 673 340

1 102 394 68 814 192 909 1 364 117

Non-executives

Figures in Rand
Directors’

fees Total

2019

SS Sibiya 139 333 139 333

TN Sindane 209 000 209 000

T Motlogeloa 191 583 191 583

MS Tsie 209 000 209 000

748 916 748 916

Figures in Rand
Directors’

fees
Committee

fees Total

2018

SS Sibiya 34 833 43 167 78 000

TN Sindane 34 833 51 429 86 262

T Motlogeloa 34 833 366 012 400 845

MS Tsie 34 833 76 364 111 197

139 332 536 972 676 304

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

for the year ended 30 June 2018 
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22. PRIOR YEAR ERRORS
During the year, management changed the company accountant in addition to recent changes of  the auditor 
and company secretary (in 2018 year-end). During the hand over, it became apparent that the share register was 
not reflecting the accurate and complete information of  the company shareholders. A data analytics firm was 
appointed to analyse all existing share registers and determine the accurate share register. There was an error on 
the number of  shares disclosed on the annual financial statements in prior years and this has now been corrected.

The effect of  the correction of  the error is as follows:

New Old

Shares issued

Number of  shares – no par value 138 802 534 138 784 119

The prior year number of  shares has been corrected for consistency with the current year presentation. The error 
only affects the number of  shares issued with no effect on the reported statement of  financial position, the statement 
of  changes in equity, the statement of  cash flows and the statement of  comprehensive income.

During 2019 financial year-end, 4AX Exchange Registry took over the duties of  transfer secretary on or about  
2 July 2018 when the share register was handed over from Singular Systems. The contents were accepted as a true 
and accurate reflection of  the shareholding of  SEI1 on their confirmation in their capacity as transfer secretary. The 
shares in issue were 138 802 534 on or about 2 July 2018 and there was no increase or decrease in issued shares 
approved or processed to that date and the number of  shares in issue according to our records is still 138 802 534.

23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT 
Categories of financial instruments

Financial risk management 

Overview

The company is exposed to the following risks from its use of  financial instruments:

• Credit risk;

• Liquidity risk; and

• Market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk).

Credit risk

Credit risk for exposures other than those arising on cash and cash equivalents are managed by making use of  
credit approvals, limits and monitoring. The company only deals with reputable counterparties with consistent 
payment histories. Sufficient collateral or guarantees are also obtained when necessary. Each counterparty is 
analysed individually for creditworthiness before terms and conditions are offered. The analysis involves making 
use of  information submitted by the counterparties as well as external bureau data (where available). Counterparty 
credit limits are in place and are reviewed and approved by credit management committees. The exposure to credit 
risk and the creditworthiness of  counterparties is continuously monitored.

Credit risk exposure arising on cash and cash equivalents is managed by the group through dealing with well-
established financial institutions with high credit ratings.
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23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT continued

Categories of financial instruments continued

Credit risk continued

The maximum exposure to credit risk is presented in the table below:

 

2019 2018

Figures in Rand Notes

Gross
carrying
amount

Credit
loss

allowance

Amortised
cost/fair

value

Gross
carrying
amount

Credit
loss

allowance

 Amortised
cost/fair

value

Loans to group 
companies 6 89 874 – 89 874 – – –

Trade and other 
receivables 7 433 675 – 433 675 202 546 – 202 546

Cash and cash 
equivalents 8 1 259 173 – 1 259 173 1 893 503 – 1 893 503

1 782 722 – 1 782 722 2 096 049 – 2 096 049

Liquidity risk

The company is exposed to liquidity risk, which is the risk that the company will encounter difficulties in meeting its 
obligations as they become due.

There have been no significant changes in the liquidity risk management policies and processes since the prior 
reporting period.

The maturity profile of  contractual cash flows of  non-derivative financial liabilities, and financial assets held to 
mitigate the risk, are presented in the following table. The cash flows are undiscounted contractual amounts.

Interest rate risk

Fluctuations in interest rates impact on the value of  investments and financing activities, giving rise to interest  
rate risk.

The debt of  the company is comprised of  different instruments, which bear interest at either fixed or floating 
interest rates. The ratio of  fixed and floating rate instruments in the loan portfolio is monitored and managed by 
incurring either variable rate bank loans or fixed rate bonds as necessary. Interest rate swaps are also used where 
appropriate, to convert borrowings into either variable or fixed, in order to manage the composition of  the ratio. 
Interest rates on all borrowings compare favourably with those rates available in the market.

There have been no significant changes in the interest rate risk management policies and processes since the prior 
reporting period.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

for the year ended 30 June 2018 
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23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT continued

Categories of financial instruments continued

Liquidity risk continued

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The following sensitivity analysis has been prepared using a sensitivity rate which is used when reporting interest 
rate risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s assessment of  the reasonably 
possible change in interest rates. All other variables remain constant. The sensitivity analysis includes only financial 
instruments exposed to interest rate risk which were recognised at the reporting date. No changes were made 
to the methods and assumptions used in the preparation of  the sensitivity analysis compared to the previous 
reporting period.

Company

At 30 June 2019, if  the interest rate (JIBAR) had been 1% per annum (2018: 5,25%) higher or lower during the 
period, with all other variables held constant, profit or loss for the year would have been R68 141 (2018: R20 851)
lower and R68 141 (2018: R20 851) higher.

At 30 June 2019, if  the interest rate (JIBAR) had been 1,000% per annum (June 2018: 5,25%: 5%) higher or lower 
during the period, with all other variables held constant, the impact on equity for the year would have been R13 794 
(2018: R14 476) lower and R13 794 (2018: R14 476) higher.

Price risk

The company is exposed to price risk because of  its investments in equity instruments which are measured at fair 
value. The exposure to price risk on equity investments is managed through a diversified portfolio, and through the 
use of  option contracts on relevant indexes, where necessary.

The company is not exposed to commodity price risk.

There have been no significant changes in the price risk management policies and processes since the prior 
reporting period.

24. GOING CONCERN
The annual financial statements have been prepared on the basis of  accounting policies applicable to a going 
concern. This basis presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of  
assets and settlement of  liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of  
business.

25. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
On 1 September 2019, the company declared dividends at R0,05 per ordinary share in respect of  the financial year 
ended 30 June 2019, payable on 30 September 2019 to all shareholders. The number of  ordinary shares at the 
date of  this declaration is 138 802 534. The dividend will be subject to a local withholding tax rate of  20% which 
will result in a net dividend to those shareholders not exempt from paying dividend withholding tax of  R0,04 per 
ordinary share.
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Figures in Rand Notes 2019 2018

Revenue

Interest received 5 536 253 1 095 128

Dividends received 2 786 207 3 725 151

14 8 322 460 4 820 279

Other operating income

Administration and management fees received – 312 201

Gains/(losses) on disposal of  financial assets 29 788 489 1 181 422

15 29 788 489 1 493 623

Expenses (refer to page 49) (10 309 141) (11 977 669)

Operating profit/(loss) 16 27 801 808 (5 663 767)

Finance costs 17 – 73 129

Profit/(loss) before taxation 27 801 808 (5 590 638)

Taxation 18 (4 554 821) 326 455

(Loss)/profit for the Interim period 23 246 987 (5 264 183)

DETAILED INCOME STATEMENT
for the year ended 30 June 2019
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Figures in Rand Notes 2019 2018

Other operating expenses

Portfolio management fees (899 183) (985 982)

Accounting fees – (457 105)

Audit fees 16 (309 309) (196 126)

Impairment (131 394) (282 657)

Bank charges (72 595) (14 451)

Cleaning (1 472) –

Computer expenses (130 348) (79 913)

Legal fees (682 665) (685 268)

Consulting fees (518 459) (848 206)

Secretarial fees (180 000) (315 959)

Depreciation (174 635) (199 786)

Salaries (3 847 516) (3 415 584)

Fines and penalties (67 736) (62 033)

Parking (1 250) –

Health and safety (667) –

Shareholder communication (10 526) (1 497 481)

Committee expenses (3 399) –

Functions and events (2 400) –

Venue hire (277 942) –

Leasing charges (19 434) –

Directors’ fees (748 917) (139 333)

Insurance (18 371) (23 055)

Lease rentals (414 026) (730 795)

Motor vehicle expenses (2 181) (65 950)

Electricity and water (18 826) –

Recruitment fees (129 734) –

Courier and postage (216 420) (276 928)

Printing and stationery (548 147) (109 411)

Repairs and maintenance (3 883) –

Staff  welfare (29 401) (58 762)

Subscriptions (370 206) (15 012)

Telephone and fax (147 036) (277 497)

Training (29 659) (365 361)

Travel – local (301 404) (875 014)

(10 309 141) (11 977 669)
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AGM Annual general meeting

B-BBEE Broad-based Black Economic Empowerment

CIPC Companies and Intellectual Property Commission

Companies Act Companies Act of  South Africa, 71 of  2008, as amended

IAS International Accounting Standards

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards

IRBA Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors

JIBAR Johannesburg Interbank Average Rate

JSE Johannesburg Stock Exchange

King IVTM King IV Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa, 2016

MOI Memorandum of  incorporation

PAAM Pan-African Asset Management

REMNOM committee Remuneration and nomination committee

SEI1 Selective Empowerment Investments 1 Limited

SEI2 Selective Empowerment Investments 2 Limited

SMME Small, medium and micro enterprise

VAT Value-added taxation

GLOSSARY
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